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PER CURI AM *

In May of 2001, Mark Monroe Ceeslin used another man’s | ast
name, driver’s |license, social security nunber and date of birthto
amass $112, 660. 94 of debt under various aliases. On March 1, 2005,
Ceeslin pled guilty to one count of identity theft in violation of
18 U.S.C. 88 1028(a)(7) and (b)(1)(D). Specifically, he used

another person’s identity to open accounts wth a wreless

Pursuant to 5th Cir. R 47.5, the Court has determ ned t hat
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5th Gr. R 47.5.4.



t el ephone conpany, a cable tel evision conpany, a power conpany, a
medi cal center, and two doctors’ offices. In calculating Geeslin’s
sentence, the district judge applied a two-level enhancenent
pursuant to 8 2Bl1.1(b)(10)(C (i) on the grounds that the offense
involved “the wunauthorized . . . wuse of another’'s neans of
identification unlawfully to produce or obtain any ot her neans of
identification.” The court found that when Geeslin used the stol en
social security nunber to open lines of <credit at various
busi nesses, the account nunbers generated in the process becane
“means of identification” as contenplated by § 2B1.1(b)(10)(C (i).
Ceeslin objected to this enhancenent and argued that he used the
docunentation to obtain services—nedical services, telephone
services, cable services, etc.—-nRot to produce new forns of
i dentification. The court overruled the objection and, after
tabul ating all relevant sentencing factors, calculated a range of
33-41 nonths. The judge then sentenced Geeslin at the top of that
range.

On appeal, Ceeslin raises only a single issue. He asserts
that services, such as nedical, cable, telephone and power
services, are not “means of identification” as that termis used in
8§ 2B1.1(b)(10) (O (i). Unfortunately for Geeslin, the definition of

“means of identification” says otherwise.! 18 U S.C. § 1028(d)(7)

The application notes to 8§ 2B1.1(b)(10)(C (i) instruct us to
give “nmeans of identification” the nmeaning giventoit in 18 U S. C
§ 1028(d) (7).



defines “neans of identification” as “any nane or nunber that may
be used alone or in conjunction with any other information, to
identify a specific individual.” Surely this includes a personal
t el ephone nunber, which is anong the many things that Geeslin
fraudul ently acquired. |ndeed, § 1028(d)(7) specifically includes
“tel ecommuni cation identifying informati on or access device” as a
“means of identification.”?

W do agree with Geeslin that a tel ephone nunber is not the

first thing that conmes to m nd when one uses the term “neans of

identification.” 1In fact, we have found no cases from any other
circuit t hat have consi der ed t he application of 8§
2B1. 1(b)(10) (O (i) to a phone nunber or utility bill Iike those at

i ssue here. Inthe typical 8 2B1.1(b)(10)(C (i) case, a court w |
i npose the enhancenent because a defendant used false
identification to secure a bank | oan. E.g., United States v.
Radzi szewski, 474 F.3d 480 (7th Cr. 2007). This scenario is
expressly included in the Application Notes as an exanple of
conduct to which subsection (b)(10)(C (i) applies. See U S.S.G 8§
2B1. 1., cmt. n.9(Q)(ii)(l). In such a case, “the account nunber of

the bank loan is the other neans of identification that has been

2When we pursue this definition even further, we find that 18
US C 8§ 1029(e), which is specifically cross-referenced in 8§
1028(d)(7) (D), defines an “access device” to include a “nobile
identification nunber, personal identification nunber, or other
t el ecommuni cati ons service, equipnment, or instrunment identifier
: " W believe this includes a functional cell phone and phone
numnber .



obt ai ned unlawful ly.” | d. Thi s exanpl e assuages any |ingering
concerns we may have about classifying a phone nunber as a “neans
of identification.” If the account nunber on a bank |oan
explicitly qualifies, then so does a phone a nunber. W m ght be
nmore reluctant to reach the sane conclusion about the account
nunber on a cable or power bill alone,® but we are readily
persuaded that use of false identification in the acquisition of a
phone and phone nunber is deserving of a sentencing enhancenent
pursuant to § 2B1.1(b)(10)(C) (i).

The defendant’s sentence i s AFFI RVED

W al so agree with the district court’s observation that, had
Ceeslin used the identification only to get nedical services, this
woul d be a very different case, and probably not deserving of an
enhancenent. However, we find the phone nunber dispositive, and we
may affirmon any basis fairly supported by the record. Berry v.
Brady, 192 F.3d 504, 507 (5th Gr. 1999).
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